
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Tuesday, 15th March, 2016

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Tuesday, 15th March, 2016, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership (15)

Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 
Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle

UKIP (2): Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman) and Mr B Neaves

Labour (1): Ms C J Cribbon

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye

Co-opted Members 
(6):

Mrs T Carpenter, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths, Ms C Moody, Ms B 
Taylor and one vacancy.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS

1.

That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

The views of Young People in Care 



UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Apologies and substitutes 

A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 28 January 2016 (Pages 5 - 12)

A3 Chairman's Announcements 

A4 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A5 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report (Pages 13 - 26)

B2 Update on the Fostering Improvement Plan (Pages 27 - 38)

B3 Combining the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Kent Corporate Parenting 
Group, including a review of Terms of Reference (Pages 39 - 44)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Monday, 7 March 2016

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Council Chamber, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 28 January 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, 
Ms S Dunstan, Mrs S Howes (Substitute for Ms C J Cribbon), Mrs C Moody, 
Mr B Neaves and Mrs J Whittle

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr G Gurney (Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting), Ms G O'Grady 
(Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's Services), Mrs S Skinner (Service 
Business Manager, Virtual School Kent) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services 
Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

126. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item A1)

Apologies for absence were received from Mr R E Brookbank, Ms C J Cribbon, Mr S 
Griffiths, Mr G Lymer, Ms B Taylor, Mr M J Vye, Mrs Z Wiltshire and Mr P J Oakford.

Mrs S Howes was present as a substitute for Ms C J Cribbon.

127. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 8 December 2015 
(Item A2)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 8 December 2015 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters 
arising. 

128. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A3)

The Chairman announced that Teresa Carpenter and her husband Peter had recently 
won a national award for their work as Permanency Foster Carers.  The awards had 
been run by FosterTalk magazine and were presented in London at the end of 
October 2015. Teresa and Peter had been nominated for the award by their foster 
children, who had lived with them for 7 years. Mrs Carpenter received the Panel’s 
congratulations on the award and their thanks for her work over 18 years as a foster 
carer, during which she had cared for 35 children and young people.  

129. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A4)

1. Ms Dunstan gave a verbal update on the following:

Page 5

Agenda Item A2



Christmas Treat – OCYPC Members had attended a production of Peter Pan at the 
Hazlitt Theatre in Maidstone. 
Forthcoming regional meetings – on 15 February for West and North Kent, and 17 
February for East and South Kent. North and West Kent had a core membership of 
30 but the East Kent group was still trying to grow its membership and increase 
interest. 
Challenge cards – challenge card responses had recently been updated but the 
publication of business cards for social workers was outstanding. A response would 
hopefully be ready for the February meetings. 
Young Adults Council (YAC) developments – the next meeting would take place 
on 4 February, to consider pathway plans, a review of the Kent Cares Town website 
and launch of the new YAC Facebook page. 
Apprentice staffing –The remaining Level 2 Virtual School Kent (VSK) apprentice 
had recently finished her apprenticeship and there were now four VSK apprentice 
vacancies, which were being advertised.  
Activity Days 2016 – as reported to the last Panel meeting, the money originally 
earmarked for a trip to the Hardelot Centre in Normandy had been re-directed to a 
number of activity days, to reach a wider audience. These would be funded by 
contributions from Member grants and, so far, pledges had been received from seven 
Panel members and the Cabinet Member. Activity days would take place as follows: 
16 February – North and West Kent – bush craft, zip line, archery and high ropes at 
Wide Horizons:  40 expected participants – all places taken up.
18 February - East and South Kent – Expressions art: 20 expected participants and 
10 spaces still to fill.
19 February - East and South Kent – skating and climbing at Revolution: 20 
expected participants and 20 spaces still to fill.

In the Easter school holidays:
 Gravity Trampolining, Maidstone – this and the following two events would be 

advertised later.
 East and South Kent – activity day at Kingswood: 48 places, not yet booking. 
 North and West Kent – climbing, mountain biking and stand-up paddle 

boarding at Bewl Water:  36 places, not yet booking. 

Other work: 
 making more links with Kent children and young people placed out of the 

county. 
 developing the ‘recruit crew’ – a training session on 17 February would aim to 

encourage more young people to take part in interview panels for social 
workers and foster carers. 

 raising awareness of the importance of participation: Sophia and Bella had so 
far delivered four 25-place training sessions for social workers, Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IROs) and foster carers, with excellent feedback on the 
interactive approach taken.

 assistance with the evaluation process in the procurement of new supported 
accommodation, with the commissioning unit.

 supporting the Winter Fayre event in Thanet on 30 January, which would be 
open to children in care, foster carers, County Council staff and their families. 

2. Ms Dunstan responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:-

Page 6



a) Ms Moody reported that her husband had attended the participation course 
and found it ‘excellent’; 

b) the upcoming Winter Fayre event might help raise the level of engagement 
in East Kent, which had historically been low; 

c) Mr Gurney confirmed that the winning design from the business card 
challenge was shortly to be printed; and

d) Ms Dunstan was congratulated for the amount of work she and her 
colleagues were undertaking.  

3. RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks. 

130. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A5)

1. In the absence of the Cabinet Member, who was engaged in media interviews 
about unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC), Mr Segurola updated the 
Panel on the announcement made by James Brokenshire, Minister of State for 
Immigration, on visits to camps being used to house migrants, to assess the number 
of children likely to need to come to the UK and access care services, eg those with 
family in the UK. Funding had been made available to help cover the costs of their 
transit to the UK.  Reference had also been made to a national scheme of dispersal 
for UASC, in which Kent had been mentioned as having a particularly heavy burden 
of UASC.  There would undoubtedly be much media coverage of these issues in the 
near future. 

2. The verbal update was noted, with thanks. 

131. Adoption Service update 
(Item B1)

Ms Y Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service, was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Shah introduced the report and added the most up-to-date figures for the 
end of January 2015 (compared to the same point in 2015), as follows:-

 75 children had been placed for adoption (122 in 2015),
 83 had been adopted (163 in 2015),
 61 adopters had been approved (113 in 2015).

In addition,  
 76 children currently had placement orders, and
 92 children had adoption plans.

 There were currently 39 adopters ready and waiting to accept a child, most of 
whom had been waiting for more than one year to adopt, with one having 
waited more than two years.  Five adopters had chosen to delay going ahead 
for personal reasons. 

 There were currently 11 children waiting for adoption, which included three 
sets of siblings, one disabled child, who had been waiting for 14 months for a 

Page 7



placement, and one child with complex needs, who had been waiting only 
since November 2015.  The overall trend was a steady decline in numbers.

2. Ms Shah set out the priorities for work for the coming year, as follows:-

 the ‘foster to adopt’ scheme, which involved work with partners such as 
CAFCASS.  Five children had so far been placed in this scheme and the 
projection was for eight to have been placed by the end of the 2016/17 
financial year;

 the prompt revocation of adoption orders for children no longer seeking 
adoption; 

 diligent monitoring of the quality of ‘life story’ documents and ‘later-life letters’. 
Documentation was being completed but the quality of the information 
attracted complaints from other professionals. It would also be useful to ask 
adopters what they thought of the material presented; and

 further work was also needed on adoption forecasts.  An historical backlog of 
cases had now been cleared so the service could move forward and improve, 
but diligent monitoring would be needed. The ‘foster to adopt’ scheme and 
concurrency were now both included on performance monitoring scorecards.  

3. Recruitment of new adopters had been suspended when the number waiting 
to adopt outnumbered the children waiting for adoption, but would re-start in April 
2016.  Adopters had asked for the establishment of a mentoring scheme, in which 
experienced adopters would support newly-approved adopters. Medical checks for 
new adopters would need to be completed promptly, and an electronic system for this 
would help. The post-adoption support service would continue to provide a team of 
skilled social workers and clinicians and was expected to make a very positive 
impact. Work priorities for this area included increasing participation, a parenting 
programme for adolescents and closer working with schools. 

4. Mr Gurney updated the Panel on work with adoption panels. Work was still 
ongoing to establish paperless panels.  Adoption panels were seeking to increase the 
inclusion of more County Council Members and education representatives.  An 
ongoing challenge was the quality of recording of information to make it both timely 
and more accurate.  

5. Ms Shah emphasised that the improvements Coram had been able to make to 
the adoption service would simply not have been possible without the work of Kent’s 
foster carers, and she praised their excellent work in supporting children through 
pressures and challenges and preparing them for adoption. She acknowledged also 
the contribution made by Specialist Children’s Services staff, IROs, the Health 
service and the Judiciary.  She thanked the former Cabinet Member, Mrs Whittle, for 
her leadership and support at the time when the Coram/KCC partnership was 
starting, and the current Cabinet Member, Mr Oakford, and the Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services, Mr Segurola, for their help and support in developing the 
partnership and the mutual trust and respect which had been most evident in the 
working relationship. She emphasised that it was committed individuals which made 
such work possible and successful. She added that she was sad that the job she had 
come to Kent to do was now ending and thanked Corporate Parenting Panel 
members for their support during this time. 

Page 8



6. The Chairman thanked Ms Shah for her work in improving Kent’s  adoption 
service and said that, because of her commitment and expert direction, the future 
excellence of the service was now assured. 

7. Mrs Whittle said that working with Coram to improve the adoption service had 
been the most rewarding part of her time so far as an elected Member of the County 
Council.  The service’s reports which had been considered by the Panel spoke for 
themselves as a demonstration of the improvements in the service.  Four years ago, 
Kent had had to face the poor state of its adoption service as well as a poor Ofsted 
rating of its Specialist Children’s Services, but all services had now been 
transformed, the adoption rate was now three times higher than it had been and the 
public and Judiciary view of Kent’s service were now very different.  She added that 
she was pleased that Ms Shah would be continuing some work with the County 
Council through the proposed development and innovation partnership with Coram.  
She thanked Ms Shah for the work she had done and said that she hoped the County 
Council would be able to continue and maintain the quality of work that Ms Shah had 
established; 

8. Mr Segurola added that the whole system of Specialist Children’s Services 
now delivered a better service than it had 3-4 years ago, with a better service as well 
as better engagement with partners, eg foster carers and the Judiciary, which was 
vital. Coram’s work had improved areas of the service which had been a 
shortcoming, historically, eg placement orders remaining in place for children no 
longer destined for adoption. He thanked Ms Shah and the Coram team for their work 
and said the adoption service was now in good shape to move forward under Mr 
Gurney. 

9. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted and Ms Shah 
and the Coram team be thanked sincerely for their work on improving Kent’s 
adoption service.  Ms Shah was also congratulated on her recent award of an 
MBE for her work with local authorities to improve the adoption process.              

132. Progress report - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy, 2015 - 
2018 
(Item B2)

Mrs M Hall, Commissioning Manager (Children), was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Hall introduced the report and explained that the progress reported had 
been based on data collected from March to the end of November 2015, relating to 
the four challenges and eight measures set out in the Strategy. Ms Hall, Mr Segurola, 
Ms O’Grady and Mr Gurney advised the Panel of the arrangements made for a 
fostering activity day for children, with their foster carers and social workers. Also 
attending would be prospective foster carers and adopters who may be able to offer 
permanency for those children. This was being arranged by Coram/BAAF and Kent 
staff, using lottery grant funding. This would take place in March 2016 at Oakwood in 
Maidstone and was expected to be attended by some 15 children and up to 50 
carers. Work was underway to identify and prepare the children and their current 
carers.

2. This type of event was the first such to be arranged by a UK local authority, 
and there were some issues around safeguarding and protection of the children 

Page 9



talking part which would need to be thought through. This new type of event would 
seek to address the needs of children who had just missed adoption and were now 
seeking permanence via fostering.  It would be the same kind of event as had been 
run successfully in the past to boost adoption rates. A child’s current foster carers 
would attend with them, and feedback on the event would be sought from carers 
attending. This new departure would be a learning opportunity for Kent. Mrs Whittle 
referred to the first adoption day she had attended and the chemistry between 
children and prospective adopters which had been immediately apparent in the 
relaxed atmosphere, proving that the model did work. Mrs Carpenter agreed that 
chemistry was important and added that being able to spend time with a prospective 
foster child was very helpful in identifying potential matches. 

3. In response to a question about how long a child might be with a foster carer 
before being offered a chance to attend a permanence event, Mr Gurney explained 
that this would be part of the progression planning.  A child’s foster carer would be 
given plenty of notice that the child was approaching the stage at which they would 
be considered for permanence, and preparing a child for that next stage would 
require careful thought. It was suggested that it would be useful for the foster carers 
on the Panel to attend and observe a permanence event and give some feedback on 
the format and arrangements, which could help to shape future events. Mr Segurola 
added that the process would need to be carefully managed to minimise the 
emotional impact on the children.  He undertook to report back to the Panel on the 
outcome of the event.   

4. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
questions and comments be noted, with thanks.  

133. Performance Management Scorecards 
(Item B3)

Mrs M Robinson, Management Information Service Manage, was in attendance for 
this item.

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and highlighted the following:-

 the measure of placement stability showed a high number of changes 
of placement but this included planned moves and positive steps 
forward, eg a young person moving on to independent living.

 the indicator of the number of children participating in review meetings 
currently included UASC.  However, the participation rate would be 
higher if UASC were to be excluded from the count.

 the number of initial health assessments completed on time (ie within 
five days of a child coming into care) had previously been low but 
focussed work with Health colleagues had improved this.  

2. Mr Segurola added that the County Council was required to undertake an 
initial review within 28 days of a child coming into care, but the Council’s ability to 
meet this requirement for every child would inevitably be diminished by a large 
number of UASC arriving at one time.  The Council was currently preparing for the 
number of UASC arrivals to start to increase in April, in line with the seasonal pattern 
observed in previous years.  

Page 10



3. Mrs Skinner explained that the number of initial health assessments 
completed on time was a challenge particularly with regard to UASC. Ensuring that 
UASC were seen in a timely way could be difficult, both in terms of the volume 
arriving at any one time and challenges around language barriers and cultural 
differences. However, NHS commissioners were talking with the Service Manager for 
the UASC Service. Much work had been done on re-drafting the Health Assessment 
Guidance for social workers to reduce bureaucracy and smooth the process. Each 
adoption panel included a medical advisor, to ensure that a child’s health issues were 
given appropriate priority. A child’s initial health assessment would be done by a 
doctor and subsequent assessments by a nurse.  

4. Mr Segurola advised that the scorecard now included the number of children 
who had been in care for 18 months or more who had had the same social worker for 
12 months, which the Panel had previously asked to be included. The rate had risen 
from 30% to 58%, not including UASC, and this increase indicated increasing stability 
for young people. When considering figures for participation, it had to be borne in 
mind that some children, eg UASC and disabled children, found it difficult to 
participate and engage, and there was more work to do to improve opportunities for 
them. Ms O’Grady added that a new App, ‘MOMO’, would be used to aid 
engagement between social workers and children aged between 8 and 17, and use 
of this could be extended to include disabled children, as it was known to be helpful 
for children with autism and other conditions. MOMO was already being used 
successfully by other local authorities and would go live in north Kent on 18 February.  
However, to be truly successful, its use would have to become common, and social 
workers would need to be issued with suitable devices and given training to allow 
them to access and use it effectively. The Panel asked that a demonstration of 
MOMO be given at a future meeting. 

5. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
questions and comment be noted, with thanks.  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, 
Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 15 March 2016

Subject: HEAD TEACHER OF VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK)  
UPDATE REPORT

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an update and 
challenges faced by the Virtual School.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
note the progress made by the Virtual School Kent

1. Panel Summary

1.1 As we approach an expected Ofsted inspection our current academic outcome 
data is extremely positive. This year has seen the best combined outcomes for 
Kent Children in Care (CiC) in all age categories from ages 6 to 16. All key 
indicators including Reading, Writing and Mathematics including 5A*-C grades at 
GCSE inclusive of English and Mathematics are at least in line with the latest 
National Average for CiC. These positive educational results have also been 
matched with regards to health outcomes with both Review Health Assessments 
(RHA) and Dental Checks being in line with or above the National Average for 
CiC. 

1.2 VSK continues to develop our participation and engagement work stream. This 
academic year we have seen the development of our Young Adults Council (YAC) 
and the strengthening of the OCYPC with local councils being piloted across the 
county. We have increased the number of activity days that we host from 14 
activity days in 2013-14 to 18 days since January 2015, supporting 374 young 
people and we are also looking to increase the number of spaces available on 
these days by a further 233 in 2016. 

1.3 This year has however seen significant pressures on the staffing and resources of 
the virtual school. The unprecedented scale of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children (UASC) arrivals, has affected our ability to complete educational 
assessments in a timely fashion. It is important to note that the virtual school is 
commissioned to complete up to 18 per calendar month whilst the arrival rate so 
far this academic year has been between 50 and 212. The number of 16 year old 
(year 11) UASC arriving in Kent has also significantly increased pressure on local 
schools to admit so late on in their compulsory education. Finally having taken on 
educational support of 16-18 year olds in April 2015 and being commissioned to 

Page 13

Agenda Item B1



support 500 young people, this age group now consists of over 1,030 young 
people of whom 67.5% are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Minors.

2. Introduction 

2.1 Further to the verbal report received by the Corporate Parenting Panel on 3rd  
September 2015, this report provides an overview of the progress made during 
academic year 2014-15 and sets the priorities and next steps for the service 
during  academic year 2015-16. 

3. Outcomes Summer 2015

3.1 The DfE usually publish their statistical first release in relation to outcomes for 
Looked After Children in December each year but the Statistical First Release 
National Dataset (SFR) has been delayed this year and will not be released until 
24 March 2016. This provides directly comparable data so at the time of writing 
this report the only published information available regarding educational 
attainment data for children who have been in care for 12 months or more is that 
relating to Key Stage 1 & 2. 

3.1 Key Stage 1 Outcomes

3.1.1 2014-15 was a successful year for our 41 young people at Key Stage 1. All three 
indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 1 and 3% on 
2013-14, with Mathematics 1% above the latest national average for Children in 
Care (CiC), Reading at the national average and writing considered broadly in 
line (one additional student would have made Kent CiC above the national 
average). Positively Kent CiC has narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 7% 
in Reading, 12% in mathematics and 15% in writing.

3.2 Key Stage 2 Outcomes

3.2.1 2014-15 was a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All four 
indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 3 and 8.6% on 
2013-14, with all indicators being between 2.8 and 4.6% above the latest national 
average for Children in Care (CiC). Positively Kent CiC has narrowed the gap with 
all Kent learners by 7.2% in reading, writing and mathematics combined.

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS1 % Level 2+ Reading 70% 71.00% 71% ↑1% 84 90 ↓6% 7%

KS1 % Level 2+ Writing 56% 59.00% 61% ↑3% 74 86 ↓12% 15%

KS1 % Level 2+ Maths 70% 73.00% 72% ↑3% 84 93 ↓9% 12%

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS2 % Level 4+ Reading 65% 71.10% 68% ↑6.1% 89

KS2 % Level 4+ Writing 58% 61.80% 59% ↑3% 86

KS2 % Level 4+ Maths 57% 64.50% 61% ↑7.5% 86

KS2 % Level 4+ Reading, Writing & Maths 44% 52.60% 48% ↑8.6% 80.2 79 ↑1.4 7.20%

Page 14



3.3 We believe (not yet validated) 2014-15 was a successful year for our 138 young 
people at Key Stage 4. 2013-14 saw the introduction of the first entry only 
methodology which led to only 8% of our young people achieving 5A*-C inclusive 
of English and Mathematics. The results in the summer of 2015 saw a 4.3% 
improvement on the previous years outcome placing us in line with the latest 
national average for CiC. Kent CiC have also narrowed the achievement gap with 
all Kent learners by 4.9%.

4Yr Dental and Health Assessment Trend Breakdown

3.4 The DfE published their statistical first release in December 2015 in relation to 
health and dental assessments for children who have been in care for 12 months 
or more at 31 March 2015.

3.5 VSK has seen three year on year improvements in both Dental and Review 
Health Assessments.  2014-15 evidenced a 16% improvement in dental checks 
over the past four years and a 15% improvement in our young people’s review 
health assessments over the same period. Based on latest validated national 
averages both our Dental and Review Health Assessments are above the 
national average.

4. Summer 2016 Predictions

4.1 Unfortunately due to the timing of this report, the summer 2016 predictions are not 
ready to be included. However, a verbal update will be available at the next 
Corporate Parenting Panel meeting which will evidence attainment and progress 
of our young people.

Indicator 2014 Actual 2015 Actual Latest NA and Target
Direction of Travel 

(2014 vs. 2015)
2015 all 
learners

All Learners 
direction from 

2014

CiC v All 
Learners Gap 

narrowed

KS4 % 5+ A*-C inc. English & Maths (best result) 8% (13%) TBC 12.3% 12% ↑4% 57.4 58 ↓0.6% 4.60%

Page 15



5. Participation and Engagement 

5.1 Participation Team Staffing Update

VSK is currently recruiting to four Participation and Engagement apprentices to 
replace those who have completed their time with us and we hope to recruit care 
leavers who will undertake an NVQ Level 2 Qualification in Business and 
Administration. Two of our existing Senior Participation and Engagement 
apprentices (both care leavers) are studying for their Level 3 NVQ and after 
winning KCC apprentice of the year our non-care leaver Level 3 apprentice has 
been promoted to a Participation Support Assistant and will work alongside a 
graduate care leaver who will be joining the team shortly. 

5.2 Participation Activity Days:

Participation Activity Days are becoming increasingly popular. An application for 
additional funding from the Members Grant Fund for £5.5k has been submitted to 
top up our Participation budget so we can put on additional activity days in the 
February and Easter holidays. This will create another 233 places. These days 
are being offered initially to children who have never attended an activity day 
before, and places are booking up quickly.

We have run 18 activity events since January 2015, and 374 children & young 
people have attended one or more activity.

5.3 Children in Care Councils:

OCYPC - This now has a core membership of 31 members, and is growing year 
on year.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

8 members 7 members 16 members 20 members 31 members

We are launching a ‘Junior’ OCYPC group for 7 to 11 year olds. This group will 
run in a less formal way with lots of activity based sessions.

Young Adult Council (YAC) - This group meets on the first Thursday of every 
month. Each meeting is focused around one particular theme; e-safety, cooking 
on a budget, first aid, pathway planning are coming up in the next few months. 
This group is also growing, we now have a membership of 20 young people 
aged 16-21.

5.4 Other work our Participation Team is supporting:

 Children in Care and Care Leaver’s involvement in the recruitment of 
social workers and Managers - Since January 2015, we have 
supported 58 young person interview panels and in addition to our 

Page 16



apprentices have 15 young people who regularly come and participate 
in interviews for NQSWs, foster carers and other key KCC staff. 
Interest in signing up to our Recruit Crew is growing

 Delivering participation workshops for Social Workers, Independent 
Reviewing Officers, and Foster Carers

 Supporting the procurement of accommodation for 16-15 year olds 
with the Commissioning Unit by being involved in the evaluation 
process

 Sitting on the Skills to Foster Panels
 Membership of the Corporate Parenting Panels
 Working in partnership with other Children in Care Councils such as 

Surrey County Council to share ideas and good practice 
 CiC Newsletters and newly created newsletters for 16+
 Increasing and improving communications with young people using 

social media and direct mailings 
 Implementation of Challenge Cards so young people’s voices reach 

the decision makers in KCC
 Attending regional or national forums where the voice of the child in 

care/care leaver is sought

5.5  Looked After Children Pupil Premium Grant(PP+) Consultation

Term 3 has seen the first formal consultation process into the deployment model 
of the PP+ grant within Kent. The questionnaire highlighted that the majority of 
schools found the application process easy to use with 27% finding it more 
challenging. There were also a number of extremely favourable comments made 
regarding the current system such as:

Improved system through ePEP
You can monitor your applications as it is electronic
You can apply for what is needed (no ceiling)

Easy to tie in with young person’s targets
Funding is available for things that are greatly beneficial and not 
otherwise
Great system support when needed
The fact I have so many children the annual process makes it 
easier to provide tutorial, counselling and any other specific 
resource or agency as well as reducing administration and time

The consultation also gave stakeholders the opportunity to influence the 
deployment model for the next financial year 2016-17. Despite the positive 
comments above, school through their responses, have signified a desire to 
move away from the current system. There were three delivery options tabled 
which were:-

1. Continuation of current system (100% application process)
2. Part direct fund part application process

3.Total direct fund to school 

The outcome showed a preference towards Option 2 with 44% selecting this 
option as their first choice and 90% selecting it as their first or second choice. This 

Page 17



compares to the option that came in second of continuing the current system, 
which had 28% selecting it as first choice and 54% first and second choice.

The Virtual School Head Teacher will reflect this in the draft PP+ Policy 2016-17 
which will be completed by the end of February 2016.

5.6 Support for Early Years
VSK are working with EYPS Early Years team to ensure our children in care aged 
three years plus have an early years PEP, as it is important to ensure our 
youngest learners are ‘school ready’ and achieve well in KS1. We recognise that 
this is time when the ‘learning gap’ is smallest and easiest to close.

7. Pressures

7.1 Meeting the needs of young people deemed to be of statutory school age

The new profile of UASC deemed School Year 11 or below has placed pressure 
on school places as schools are struggling to meet demand. There are currently 
314 UASC deemed to be of statutory school age and of these just under 50% are 
on a school roll.  

Some of the young people not on the roll of a school are receiving ‘informal’ 
provision but this does not negate their need for formal education so these are 
included in the figure of 118 young people requiring allocation of a school place.

Page 18



Placement Authority Number Placed Percentage
Kent 63 53%
OLA 55 47%
Grand Total 118 100%

Numbers of UASC Placed in Kent and Out of County not on a 
School Roll

15 - 16 School Year Group Number Without School Place Percentage
Year 10 14 22%
Year 11 39 62%
Grand Total 53 84%

Key Stage 4 UASC Placed in Kent without a School Place

15 - 16 School Year Group
Average of Period of Care 
Duration (Weeks)

Year 10 16
Year 11 21
Grand Total 18

Average Period of Care Duration of (KS 4) UASC Placed in Kent without a 
School Place

Various discussions have been taking place over many months with colleagues in 
EYPS, schools and colleges to ensure there is a cohesive approach to supporting 
this group of young people with their education and where appropriate Pupil 
Premium funding has been used.  Examples of Positive Partnership working with 
Schools are outlined below:

7.1.1 Ready for School Programme

School A in East Kent has developed a bespoke EAL provision that allows their 
predominately Eastern European community to access school, develop an 
understanding of how school operates and access mainstream subjects over an 
extended period of time. For the UASC in Years 7-10 this programme has been 
adapted to accelerate this process over a 6 week intensive programme. 

The programme covers a number of aspects of school life including maths and 
English with the aim of all the pupils reaching Kent Steps Level 4 by the end of 
the programme. The understanding of school life is developed through a board 
game called ‘My New School’. This game covers: what a school physically is; the 
hierarchical structures of a school; school rules and how to interact with others in 
school. This is supplemented with an intensive programme of English delivered by 
and EAL specialist and maths with a qualified teacher. 

Page 19



Further to this, the UASC are able to access the sport facilities offered by School 
A. VSK are looking to develop some of the wider aspects of the course with 
School A so that the UASC can develop an understanding of British culture, 
sexual health and wider society. School A also closely monitors the behaviour of 
the UASC and are fully on board with the Prevent Strategy. 

The UASC on the Ready for School Programme are held nominally on the role of 
School A. During this period a number of processes commence. School A will 
work with the UASC’s Social Worker to complete an EPEP; Kent County Council 
Admissions will work alongside School A and identify appropriate school places. 
The Head Teachers in the area have all agreed to this process and are willing to 
accept UASC who have completed the programme and reached Kent Steps Level 
4. If the UASC has not reached this target, then the course will be repeated. 

School B in South Kent has created a specialist base for students who have 
English as an Additional Language and cannot manage in mainstream classes. 
They report that the students are bright, keen to learn and have high aspirations, 
including remaining in education at School B for 6th Form. However, they need to 
learn the basics of English, both written and spoken, in order for them to be able 
to access the curriculum. The students need an intensive 6 week EAL course in 
order to maximise their learning potential and to achieve formal qualifications. The 
group is staffed with a specialist teacher and support where necessary from 
teaching assistants. Pupils follow a highly individualised programme, where they 
can access specialist EAL teaching and join in with parts of the curriculum where 
appropriate. The group is well established within the school campus and students 
accessing the course have social times with the rest of the school and are 
encouraged to join in with sports or other extra-curricular activities.

Early evidence of impact (Feedback from school): We feel that the project is a 
huge success.  After a planned gradual integration into mainstream lessons, all 
the boys are now attending mainstream lessons with support in lessons where 
required.  The three year 11 boys are being taught with Year 10s as they wish to 
remain with us P16.  We do not normally have students out of year group but it 
was felt that this is the best chance of achieve GCSE’s next academic year (all 3 
are taking GCSE Maths in the next few weeks and can retake next year to 
improve their grade).  They will be in P16 for pastoral side of things next year but 
continuing with attending at least core subjects with the groups they are in now, 
which will be year 11 in September.

7.1.2 Ready for College Programme 

For Year 11 pupils School A has developed the Ready for College Programme in 
conjunction with their local Skills Studio. This programme is very similar, but 
rather than accessing mainstream school, the UASC will experience a range of 
vocational course alongside Maths and English. The long term aim is to prepare 
the UASC for College life and be in a position to access a Y12 place at College on 
a vocational course or ESOL course offered locally at College. 

As the course has a fixed start date, VSK has worked in partnership with Kent 
Mentoring Services (KMS) to develop an offer around conversational english. 

Page 20



KMS have been very proactive in ensuring that all the UASC they work with have 
been engaged and onward progression to Ready for School or College is fully 
supported. 

 There are currently 8 UASC on Ready for School
 There are currently 9 UASC on Ready for College
 There are currently 4 UASC waiting for the next Ready for School 

programme. 

School C in West Kent introduced a pilot to support this group of young people 
and although it was successful it is no longer required due to the smaller numbers 
of UASC placed in the area.

School D - Medway – there are plans to create a Medway hub to support this 
group of young people to commence at the beginning of Term 4 – until the end 
of Term 6.

Individual support to young people - Numerous agreements are in place for 1:1 
or Teaching Assistant support in schools with iPads, Nimbl licences, funding for 
online resource licences (One Stop English).

Walk Tall – The programme, taking place in North Kent, prepares asylum seeking 
unaccompanied young people between ages 14 and 17, for entry in to British 
Mainstream Education and integrates assessment for the need for any therapeutic 
intervention. It is set in a creative and arts based environment and will include 
English language, numeracy as well as mainstream social/cultural norms and 
expectations. 

7.2  Meeting the needs of our Post 16 UASC

When the Virtual school took over the 16-18 Year old education support work 
stream we were commissioned to provide support for 500 young people. The 
numbers that we are now responsible for are currently just over 1,000 young 
people. This has led to a caseload of over 160 young people for the existing Post 
16 Support Officers, resulting in limited capacity to address the NEET and 
Unknown agenda. Despite these pressures current Unknown numbers are down 
to zero excluding the UASC cohort which evidences our delivery model is 
effective however we are currently under resourced. 

I am however pleased to report that the Director of Specialist Children’s Services 
has agreed initially for a fixed period of 12 months to increase this resource to 
reflect the doubling in the number of 16-18 year old we now support.

The Skills and Employability Service (S&E) has collaborated with VSK and SCS 
to broker provision from the post 16 provider network to address the high levels 
of UASC who are NEET. The challenges they were asked to address were to:

 generate sufficient suitable and sustainable provision for the 
unprecedented numbers arriving since Spring 2015 as standalone 
ESOL courses are no longer funded for 16-19 year olds

Page 21



 develop a pathway into employment for those who have the right to 
work

 plan for post 16 provision from the time a young person arrives in a 
reception and assessment centre in the midst of many competing 
priorities

7.3 Progress so far:

Initially senior leaders of 16-19 institutions were consulted to understand the 
barriers to establishing a sustainable study programme for this group of students. 

As a result of this consultation the Skills and Employability service has:

1. Worked with Education Funding Agency (EFA) funded providers to 
determine a viable model for study programme (appendix A). This must 
meet the EFA regulations that all post 16 programmes over 150 hours per 
year are defined as “study programmes” which means they must:

 Have a core aim. This has to be a substantial qualification or 
external work experience. The only exceptions are young people 
subject to an Education and Health Care Plan. Many ESOL 
qualifications are not on the list of substantial qualifications.

 Deliver “stepping stone” qualifications in English and maths to 
students who do not have a C at GCSE.

2. Negotiated flexible timing of programmes. These students arrive at all 
times of the academic year and school and college programme only have 
intakes in September and occasionally January. Their levels of English 
make it difficult to access programmes once they have started. The 
provision brokered which is listed below will have starts every 6 weeks. 

3. Brokered delivery using the KCC Community Learning and Skills contract 
from the EFA: using adult education centres and youth hubs this contract 
will be used to deliver to meet any gaps in provision in districts. A pilot 
programme started in Gravesend in December to establish a study 
programme delivery model for CLS. As the EFA expects this contract to 
deal with exceptions and niche groups this also demonstrates that KCC is 
using this funding as intended.

4. Established a delivery Network for January 2016 starts and for 2016/17 - 
SCS and VSK have collaborated with Skills and Employability service to 
both react to current need for the rest of this academic year and to broker 
a further 300 study programmes.  

7.3.1 There are three outstanding issues which need to be addressed:

1. The limited number of post 16 allocations from the EFA for key providers. 
There is a process whereby the EFA will increase allocations but it must 
come from the local authority.

2. The high risk the FE colleges’ performance data that this group of 
students presents. KCC needs to ask the EFA to make an exception for 

Page 22



these students from the normal datasets by which college funding is 
measured.

3. The use of National Citizenship Service as a provision. SCS could 
explore the possibility of CXK commissioning NCS programmes 
specifically for UASC.  

Appendix B provides examples of some of the provision in place to support this 
cohort of young people are attached. 

8. Conclusion

There continues to be a high level of need and thus demand for VSK services to 
support children in care and care leavers and the level of commitment and 
enthusiasm of staff within the service remains high. Whilst we believe the 
examination results for the last academic year were positive across all key stages 
we want to achieve more.  There are clearly pressures on teams within KCC 
including VSK to meet the needs of our UASC and these effect partner agencies 
including schools, colleges and NHS services too; upon whose support and 
intervention we rely.  Our aim for the remainder of this academic year and the 
next is to continue to strive to improve outcomes for all the children and young 
people we seek to support.

7. Recommendation

7.1   Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the progress made by the Virtual School Kent and the pressures identified within this 
report.

8. Background Documents

8.1 ESOL Provision Factsheets - 
http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/professionals/uasc/541-esol-provisions

9. Report Author
Tony Doran
Virtual School Kent Headteacher
07921038094 
tony.doran@kent.gov.uk

Page 23

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/professionals/uasc/541-esol-provisions
mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Town Education Funding Agency 
(EFA) funded study 
programme provision and lead 
contact

Numbers 
for 
2016/17 

Content, outcomes and intended 
destinations

Provision has 
been brokered 
to reflect the 
areas that SCS 
inform us 
receive these 
students from 
the reception 
centres. 

All programmes are either 
delivered by directly funded 
providers or those with sub 
contracts from an FE college

Students will gain recognised progression 
qualifications in English and maths in all 
the provision listed below and have 
structured education to support social 
integration and citizenship. They will all 
receive information advice and guidance 
to enable them to make the right 
progression. Any additionality is indicated

Ashford KCC Community Learning & 
Skills study programme

Jude.farrell@kent.gov.uk
Starting January if Gravesend 
pilot is successful

20 Citizenship/ independent living skills
Some work based qualifications eg 
manual handling, first aid 
Progression to KT&A Work Ready, 
apprenticeships or FE

Broadstairs East Kent college study 
programme
Starting January: 20 places

Lucy McLeod

Lucy.McLeod@eastkent.ac.uk

40 Employability or COPE qualifications

Students will be moved forward onto the 
Progression curriculum at the college 
when they have sufficient levels of literacy 
and numeracy

Canterbury Canterbury Academy
Rachel Meehan
15 students currently on 
programme

Gillingham Football Trust: 15 
places to start in January
Wayne Wilson

wwilson@priestfield.com

20 Vocational options depending on level of 
English : horticulture; construction; ICT; 
warehousing & Storage 
Progression to vocational programmes or 
A levels at the school
Independent living skills

Progression to sports based 
apprenticeships or FE

Dover NACRO study programme
Josh Coleman

Josh.Coleman@nacro.org.uk

30 * Work based quals: manual handling, first 
aid etc

Progression to main vocational study 
programme or EK college

Gravesend KCC Community Learning & 
Skills study programme
Jude.farrell@kent.gov.uk

 20 starting December

20 Independent living skills
Some work based qualifications eg 
manual handling, first aid 

Progression to KT&A Work Ready, 
apprenticeships or FE

Maidstone Asphelia study programme

katerinarodger@asphaleia.co.
uk

80* Possible work or volunteering placement
Independent living skills

Progression to KT&A Work Ready, 
apprenticeships or FE

Page 25

mailto:Jude.farrell@kent.gov.uk


Gillingham Gillingham Football Trust

15 places starting January

20 See previous entry

Folkestone East Kent college study 
programme
Starting January

15 places

20 See previous entry

Margate Gillingham Football Trust

15 places starting January

20 See previous entry

Sheerness Gillingham Football Trust

15 places starting January

20 See previous entry

Tonbridge, 
Tunbridge Wells 
and Malling

KCC Community Learning & 
Skills study programme

10 See previous entry

*indicates that extra places are needed from the EFA

Page 26



From: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist 
Children’s Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, 
Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 15 March 2016

Subject: UPDATE ON THE FOSTERING IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: Provides an updated Fostering Improvement Plan for the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, following on from the September 2015 meeting. 
Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER 
and COMMENT on the updated Fostering Improvement Plan.

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Fostering Improvement Plan was created in November 2013 as part of the 
Fostering Service Action Plan for Ofsted. 

1.2 This plan was last taken to Corporate Parenting Panel in September 2015 to 
provide an update on the current position. Following on from the meeting, there 
was a request made to review and update the Improvement Plan after six 
months, to be presented at the March 2016 Panel. 

1.3 There were seven priority areas identified within the Fostering Improvement Plan 
and these have now been reviewed and updated accordingly. 

1.4 The latest version of the Fostering Improvement Plan is attached as Appendix 1.

2. Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER 
and COMMENT on the updated Fostering Improvement Plan.

3. Background Documents

None

4. Lead Officer Lead Director
Geoff Gurney Philip Segurola
Interim Head of Adoption Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 414873 03000 413120
Geoff.Gurney@kent.gov.uk Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 27

Agenda Item B2

mailto:Geoff.Gurney@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Fostering Improvement Plan February 2016 
Incorporating the Management Action Plan from the In-House Foster Care

(RB19 2015) internal audit report dated June 2015

7 Priority Areas for Action

Priority Area 1:  Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  This 
recommendation is made within the context of further developing consultation forums to enable their views to inform service development 
(NMS 1.3)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

Looked after Children’s and Fostering Teams to promote the 
voice of the children and young people in their districts 
addressing NMS 1.3 as a priority (regs 3.31 - 3.42) 

Children in Care 
Team Managers

Completed Participation Strategy signed off by the 
Divisional Managers Team (Assistant 
Directors and the Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) 
Service Managers in June 2015.

To increase feedback available for foster carers’ annual 
reviews from children and young people.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Ongoing Proposed change to more independent 
reviews of foster carer’s approvals each 
year that will improve this. But the need for 
more feedback has been discussed at CIC 
Service Managers and Fostering Support 
Team Managers Meetings with a 
requirement to monitor this activity. 

1.1

To ensure children’s views from child in care reviews feed into 
foster carer supervision and annual reviews, and are acted 
on.

IROs and 
Fostering Team 
Managers

Ongoing As above

1.2
Fostering Support Team Managers to set up tracking systems 
to ensure requested feedback forms at the end of placements 
and at Annual Reviews are returned by area social workers.

CiC Service 
Managers

Ongoing As above

P
age 29



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

1.4

Young people involved in training, assessing and recruiting 
foster carers.

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager / 
Sue Clifton 
Sarah Skinner 
(Apprentices)

Completed Young people are involved in the 
assessment process for new carers and in 
the recruitment of some staff. Former CIC 
are recruited as part of the Skills training 
and interview potential applicants. 

Priority Area 2:  Ensure all foster carers receive training in positive care and control of children.  This recommendation is made within the 
context of the need to review and update guidance for foster carers, with particular regard to the physical restraint policy and procedure (NMS 
3.8)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

2.2

Undertake comprehensive needs and gap analysis of foster 
carer training, with reference to supporting carers to take 
more challenging placements and missing children / CSE. 
Needs analysis to include feedback from young people.

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

 Completed All foster carer training now has a clear 
pathway related to career experience. 
Additional training now includes Missing 
from care and CSE as part of the ongoing 
training portfolio. Training is addressed as 
part of S/V of carers 

Priority Area 3: Ensure the care and support provided to children minimises the risk that they will go missing and reduces the risk of harm 
should the child go missing.  This recommendation is made within the context of the service continuing to drive  down the number of episodes 
of children going missing (NMS 5.1)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

3.1

Fostering Teams ensure all Foster Carers understand 
strategy for dealing with missing child and ensure risk 
assessments are updated. Managers to take missing / CSE 
themes and guidance to Foster Carer Forums

Fostering Team 
Managers

Completed Part of the ongoing training pack for all 
relevant foster carers now embedded in the 
Training programme.  4 – 6  events run 
each year.

P
age 30



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

3.2

Dedicated CSE training programme to be developed for all 
foster carers approved for age 11 plus for them to do 
preventive work with the children they care for. Fostering 
social workers to be trained alongside foster carers.
Records of work done with young people to be on child and 
carer’s files.

To be incorporated into annual reviews

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

Fostering Team 
Managers and 
CIC Service 
Managers

Completed CSE training is now incorporated into the 
training pathway  for all foster carers of 
children 11+ Whilst joint training has not 
been possible there has been workshops 
run in conjunction with KFCA which has 
brought together Staff and foster carers

Priority Area 4:  Ensure any allegations made against foster carers are reported to the LADO, and full information and outcome recorded on 
foster carers’ electronic case record.

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

4.1

Ensure Liberi recording is improved to reflect full range of 
allegations made against carers. All significant incidents of 
concern, complaint or allegation in a foster home to be logged 
and recorded on Liberi foster carer file.

CIC Service 
Managers / 
Fostering 
Managers

Completed Discussed at a CIC (Service Manager’s) 
Meeting and agreement that this will be 
monitored routinely by Fostering Team 
Managers and IROs.

4.2

Ensure all fostering social workers and team managers have 
read and understood the national minimum standards, and 
Kent’s policy for allegations against foster carers

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager
CIC Service 
Managers

Completed Workshop was held with all Fostering Team 
managers to remind staff of NMS and 
Regulations. Staff reminded of allegations 
Policy at County meeting.

4.3
Monitor reporting in monthly fostering scorecard of allegations 
made against carers

ADS monitoring 
MIU scorecards

Completed Scorecard data is updated each day and 
available in real time.

4.4

LADO to visit every Fostering Team Meeting and remind of the 
process for reporting allegations against carers

LADO Manager, 
Safeguarding AD 
Patricia Denney

Complete by 
end of April 
2016

The LADO Team have devised a suitable 
briefing presentation which will be delivered 
by the team to all of the Fostering Teams in 
Kent by way of attending team meetings 
during the months of March and April 2016

P
age 31



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Priority Area 5:  Ensure the foster home is inspected annually, without appointment, by the fostering service to make sure that it continues to 
meet the needs of foster children (NMS 10.5)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

5.1

12 monthly unannounced visits undertaken and health & 
safety inspection undertaken/reviewed at that time. 

Fostering 
Managers and 
CIC Service 
Managers

Completed Current completions at 97.8%, and we 
expect to see further improvement against a 
target 100%.

Continue to monitor 6 weekly supervisions.
Start to assess quality of work being done with carers through 
supervisions, annual reviews and unannounced visits.

Fostering 
Managers and 
CIC service 
managers

Completed Current completions for 6 week supervisions 
is 92.9%. Improvement to 95% required.
Audits and dip sampling by central services 
undertaken and reported to areas.

Priority Area 6:  Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling 
groups, so as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

6.1

Update/review the recruitment strategy Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

Completed Website refreshed and added to frequently 
to keep current. Current recruitment activity 
focused on targeted areas: siblings, 
adolescents,. Further use of Facebook, 
Twitter to promote need. Evening on line 
Q&A sessions to further highlight special 
needs.

Ensure better use of current vacancies, review and deregister 
where carers inactive.

Fostering and 
CIC Service 
Managers

Completed All teams completed actions on inactive 
carers. In house placements at 96%..

P
age 32



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Priority Area 7:  Ensure the manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies, to 
identify any concerns about specific incidents and to identify patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of 
addressing the variable quality of carer supervision records and ensuring that all service policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and 
updated (NMS 25.2)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

7.1

Foster carer files to be audited monthly, at least one audit 
completed per team. Themes from audit to be fed back and 
used to improve supervision quality and recording. 

Fostering Team 
Managers, Head 
of Quality 
Assurance

Ongoing New audit tool completed, but needs to be 
added to on line system. Some auditing has 
taken place (New carers). Future audit cycle 
to be part of regular QA. Still awaiting upload 
of on-line tool.

Fostering Improvement Plan April 2015
Now incorporating the Management Action Plan from the In-House Foster Care

(RB19 2015) internal audit report dated June 2015

8 Risk Areas identified by Internal Audit

1. Risk Register. There is no risk register for the Fostering Service. Interviews with managers identified risks that were not recorded on the 
SCS risk register such as foster carer retention, placement sufficiency and failure to meet statutory requirements. There are other risks that 
we identified during the course of the audit such as failure to maintain DBS checks and inappropriate payments that equally were not 
recorded.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

None. Not accepted. 
Risks identified by the Internal Audit team included the risk 
that not enough Kent foster placements would be in place to 
meet identified demand for foster care from the children in 
care population. This is a risk recognized at length in Kent’s 
Sufficiency Strategy, a statutory document that forms part of 
our Annex A Ofsted required information at the point of 

None N/A Work has been done to maintain an effective 
strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are 
responsive to current and predicted future 
demands on the service.  The Newton 
Europe Transformation has been very 
successful in the West and is rolling out 
across the other areas. Well above target of 

P
age 33



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

inspection. This risk is also a national risk not specific to Kent, 
and in fact, Kent has above average proportions of its child in 
care population placed with in house foster carers. Specialist 
Children’s Services consider that the risks identified and 
addressed through the audit are addressed.

90% .96% of in-house placements achieved 
in Feb 2016. Risks to Fostering and other 
services are regularly discussed at 
Directorate and Divisional Risk meetings, and 
documented in Business Plans.

2. Data Quality and Record Keeping.  Inconsistencies with record keeping and data quality were noted throughout the audit.
Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 

completed by
Progress to date

The service accepts that current information on some files 
requires improvement, but this is in part due to having 
recorded information across 3 systems until very recently. 
These systems include Liberi, the children’s social care 
electronic recording system which the fostering service has 
only recently started using, paper files and the G Drive. Liberi 
has historically not been able to store scanned documents but 
will be doing so very soon, eliminating the need for any other 
recording systems and leading to improved data quality and 
record keeping.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Ongoing We have developed an online tool for 
auditing Foster Carer cases. And this will be 
implemented April 2016 once uploaded 

Liberi now used for all recording. Centralized 
service is now paperless. Area teams 
working to all new information added to 
Liberi, including training records S/V reviews 
and Case summaries 

3. Training. Although there is a programme of core training, there is no central monitoring in place to record completion of this. Training 
should be assessed as part of the carer’s Annual Review, and the majority of reviews sampled stated this had been done. There is a risk to 
the safety and well-being of the child if carers do not receive appropriate training. There is also a risk of non-compliance with the Fostering 
Service (England) Regulations and the National Minimum Standards.  

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

Records of training attendance by foster carers have 
historically been kept on their own files although each area 
has used spreadsheets to understand training attendance for 
their own carers. As stated above training records are now 
kept on Liberi which facilitates analysis of training uptake. 
Undertaking a training needs analysis for foster carers and 
redesigning the training programme accordingly is a priority for 
2015.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Completed We have implemented a system of central 
management oversight to ensure that this is 
captured and reviewed robustly.  We will 
ensure that where appropriate both carers 
undertake training and that the Quality 
Assurance function of the Fostering Panel is 
more rigorously applied. 

P
age 34



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Service to address training for care of adolescents. New – Naintara 
Khosla form 
march 2016

From April 
2016

Exchange the current KEEP safe  training  
which incurs considerable cost with 
Adolescent Fostering changes April 16.

4. Regulatory and practice compliance. There is a risk of lack of compliance with the Fostering Service (England) Regulations and the National 
Minimum Standards. There is the risk of a less favourable Ofsted report if these requirements cannot be demonstrated as met. Inadequate 
support for carers may result in poor standards of care or disengagement. The Foster Carers category may no longer be suitable which 
could lead to inappropriate standards of care or in failure to maximum the use of resources. 

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

The fieldwork was undertaken at a point when we were in the 
process of implementing the Fostering Improvement Plan.

It is acknowledged that there is insufficient feedback from 
children and their social workers incorporated into the Annual 
Review of carers. This is a priority for service development for 
2015.

Foster carer agreements will be updated at annual reviews 
and resigned, although this is not a statutory requirement. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Completed
We are currently developing an online tool 
for auditing Foster Carer cases and a revised 
performance management framework is now 
in place.

Supervision is now tracked using the weekly 
performance monitoring tool by managers, 
so there should not be any carers who are 
not receiving super vision.

Participation Strategy signed off by the 
Divisional Managers Team (Assistant 
Directors and the Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) 
Service Managers in June 2015.

Discussed with CIC and FST Managers and 
will be monitored for compliance.

P
age 35



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

5. Complaints and Allegations. There is no complete central record held of complaints and allegations received, either within the Fostering 
Service or by the SCS Complaints team. There is a risk of lack of compliance with the statutory requirements. There is also the risk that 
complaints and allegations may not be handled appropriately leading to safeguarding issues or carer disengagement.  If central records are 
not maintained, emerging themes and trends may not be identified and therefore addressed and the Council may not be able to provide 
accurate records in the event of enquiry or statutory request for information.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

The information available is distributed across paper and 
electronic files. It is clear that recording practice has not been 
robust in the fostering teams and needs to improve. It does 
appear that discussions may have been had with the LADO in 
two out of the three cases, but that this was not recorded 
anywhere. This is both a recording and a practice problem as 
it suggests an insufficiently robust approach to addressing 
allegations alongside lack of recording activity. We will ensure 
that there is central management oversight of complaints and 
allegations. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Completed The procedures for what to do when an 
allegation is made against a carer has been 
updated and is available in Kent’s Policy 
pages, and the LADO team have agreed to 
attend fostering team meetings to reinforce 
the requirements of the police which is in line 
with national minimum standards to refer all 
allegations made against foster carers to a 
LADO, and to ensure that copes of the 
subsequent investigation activity is kept on 
the carer’s file.

6. DBS Checks – Other members of the household. We could not confirm that there is a robust systematic approach to monitoring, and 
ensuring completion of, the DBS checks of members of the foster care household who are not main or joint carers. Children may have 
regular contact with adults who present a risk to their safety.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

This may have been the case at the time of the audit work, but 
is no longer the case. DBS checks for main and link foster 
carers, and associated adults, are monitored weekly through a 
tracker on the SCS performance management data site and 
available to all teams. We will reinforce the performance 
framework to ensure that DBS clearances are current. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

Completed All managers are using this tracker to ensure 
DBS compliance.

P
age 36



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

7. Expenses. The rates for mileage and day care were last reviewed in 2009. There is no policy or guidance in place for either staff or carers 
detailing the expenses that may be claimed, such as journeys, day care or payment in lieu of annual leave. There is also no guidance setting 
out the expenses that the maintenance grant is expected to cover. The scheme of allowances is costly or inconsistent leading to payments 
made that do not represent best value for the Council and a failure to meet savings targets. There is also the risk that carers are not treated 
equally leading to dissatisfaction and disengagement.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

It is accepted that the scheme of expenses has not recently 
been reviewed, and this will be a priority for the Fostering 
Service to review in 2015. There is guidance available.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

Completed Changing the way we pay foster carers has 
being discussed in consultation with 
Fostering service managers and with the 
Kent Foster Carers Association as part of the 
Transformation programme and as a 
consequence of a change of payment 
system, but there are no plans to change the 
maintenance and reward structure at 
present. 

8. Policies and Procedures. The Service could not provide evidence that the Statement of Purpose (policy) had been signed off by an 
appropriate Member. The National Minimum Standards require the Council to give contact details for the Independent Reviewing Officer in 
the Children’s Guide however although the Children's Guide states that the IRO may be contacted, it does not give relevant details. Policy 
may not align to strategy. There is a risk to the safety of children placed with foster carers if carers are not clear about the acceptable 
measures of restraint that may or may not be used, or if children are unclear how to raise concerns. The Council may not be compliant with 
relevant legislation.

We will ensure the Cabinet Member signs off the current 
Statement of Purpose. We will ensure contact details for the 
Independent Reviewing Officers are in the Children’s Guide.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

Completed Both the Statement of Purpose and the 
Children’s Guide have been re-written and 
signed off following the recent LILAC team 
assessment. These are now published 
together with a number of related documents  
as part of a pack given to every child in care.

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



From: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, 
Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 15 March 2016

Subject: COMBINING CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL AND 
KENT CORPORATE PARENTING GROUP, 
INCLUDING A REVIEW OF TERMS OF REFERENCE.

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) Terms of 
Reference were updated in April 2015, and Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) Terms 
of Reference were updated in July 2015. It was proposed by the Corporate Parenting 
Select Committee, which reported in December 2015, that the CPP Terms of 
Reference and the KCPG Terms of Reference be merged alongside the proposal to 
combine CPP and KCPG in order to further strengthen the structural and strategic 
links between the Member-led CPP and the multi-agency, officer-led KCPG. The 
outcome of this will be a new Corporate Parenting Panel with enhanced membership 
and Terms of Reference. 

Recommendations: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:

a) DISCUSS the proposal to combine the Corporate Parenting Panel 
and the Kent Corporate Parenting Group by April 2016;
b) DISCUSS the proposed new merged Terms of Reference; 
c) ENDORSE the updated Terms of Reference for this Panel; and
d) AGREE the membership of the new Corporate Parenting Panel.

1. Current Terms of Reference
 
1.1 Corporate Parenting Panel

1.1.1 The current Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference were updated in 
July 2015 to reflect the inclusion of Care Leavers and the Council’s corporate 
parenting commitment to this group. Amendments were also made to 
documents (national and local) and groups mentioned; removing those that 
were no longer in use, e.g. ‘Every Child Matters’, and replacing them with a 
clear accountability to documents such as the Council’s Strategic Statement 
2015-2020.

Page 39

Agenda Item B3



1.1.2 The structure of the Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference was also 
amended to reflect more closely the information provided within the KCPG 
Terms of reference.

1.2 Kent Corporate Parenting Group

1.2.1 The current Kent Corporate Parenting Group Terms of Reference were updated 
in April 2015 to reflect the inclusion of Care Leavers as well as updating the 
current membership to include Foster Carer representation and representation 
from the Police. 

2. Proposed changes to the Corporate Parenting Panel and Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group, from April 2016

2.1 As a result of a recommendation from the Corporate Parenting Select 
Committee, which reported in December 2015, the proposal is to combine 
CPP and KCPG to form a wider forum bringing together multi- agency partners 
and elected County Councillors to act as an advisory board to the County 
Council, ensuring that the best interests of all Looked after Children and 
Young Adults in Kent’s care are high priority, and to shape the Council’s 
agenda. 

3. Proposed Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference April 2016

3.1 About the Corporate Parenting Panel

3.1.1 The new Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) will be a multi-agency forum made 
up of Kent County Council’s elected councillors, representing all parties, as well 
as the multi-agency partners in Kent who are responsible for delivering good 
and effective Corporate Parenting for Children and Young People.

3.1.2 The Panel, chaired by County Councillor Ann Allen, confirms the joint 
commitment to improving services and outcomes for children and care 
leavers for whom the Council is corporate parent. 

3.1.3 The Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the Corporate Parenting responsibilities 
of the multi-agency partnership are being met, in line with the Children’s Act 
1989. Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local 
authority in relation to children looked after by them; to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of these children, ensuring effective, individualised support and 
access to services. This duty is inclusive of both children and young people 
with care orders and those provided with accommodation.

3.1.4 Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-16 sets out what 
good and effective Corporate Parenting looks like, alongside our key strategic 
objectives. The Strategy’s ambitions assist in the Council’s overarching vision 
that “Children and Young People in Kent get the best start in life”.

Page 40



3.1.5 This commitment is one of three strategic outcomes which provide a simple and 
effective focus for everything the Council does; they are set out in Kent 
County Council’s Strategic Statement 2015-2020. 

3.2 The Corporate Parenting Panel is accountable
 To the County Council and Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 

Services
 To looked after children, care leavers and their carers or  guardians
 To each respective member on the Panel and the relevant senior 

management team of each agency that is represented.

3.3 Roles and Responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel
 To develop expertise about services for and issues affecting children and 

young people, both in care and leaving care; in doing so, elected 
Councillors are enabled to fulfil their role as corporate parenting 
champions and advocates for Kent Children who are looked after, and 
those leaving local authority care

 To provide the multi-agency strategic direction for services and projects 
working to achieve good outcomes for both children in local authority and 
leaving care

 To actively raise the awareness of other elected Councillors, the Cabinet 
and the County Council to the whole Council’s corporate parenting 
responsibilities towards Kent’s Looked after children and care leavers

 To oversee and challenge progress and performance against the 
objectives within Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy. 
The strategy consists of four priority areas which represent the corporate 
parenting ambitions for children and young people both in care and leaving 
care:-

i. Working Together and Learning;
ii. Developing into successful and responsible adults;
iii. Being emotionally, mentally and physically healthy; and
iv. Feeling safe and nurtured in a home setting.

 To consider any changes arising from relevant legislation, guidance or 
reviews

 To lead on ensuring that the corporate parenting roles and responsibilities 
of the local authority are being met, including:- 

a) Local expectations and the promises made via Kent’s Pledge to 
Looked after Children and Kent’s Care Leavers Charter;

b) To be aware of national expectations regarding the services to 
looked after children (including unaccompanied Asylum seeking 
Children) and Care Leavers; including those contained in reports from 
the office of the Children’s Commissioner, the adoption reform agenda, 
changes to permanent planning and the commitment to ‘staying put’;

c) To creatively consider ways in which the Corporate Parenting Panel  
will hear and respond to the views of Looked after Children, Care 
Leavers, their parents and carers;

Page 41



d) To have an understanding of the arrangements that need to be in 
place in order to be an effective Corporate Parent;

i. To undertake an in-depth analysis of the needs of the 
County Council’s care population and all aspects of the 
service required to meet those needs, so there is clear 
evidence to inform future action;

ii. To take action continually, in conjunction with officers and 
partner agencies, to improve services and ensure it is 
responsive and meeting changing needs;

iii. To report in in a timely manner to the relevant Local 
Member(s), as and when such may be required; 

 To support the chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel, the Cabinet 
Member and Deputy Cabinet  Member for Specialist Children’s Services 
in undertaking their specialist Level 3 Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities (National Children’s Bureau, Hart and Williams 2013)

i. To highlight the issues relevant for scrutiny 
ii. To act as the governing body to the Virtual School for  

Kent
 To consider reports from the Kent Safeguarding Children’s Board (KSCB), 

Children’s health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s Social Care and Health 
Cabinet Committee and Education and Young People’s Services Cabinet 
Committee in relation to Looked after children and Care Leavers 

 To consider Statistical Information about both looked after children and 
care leavers’ health and wellbeing and attainment.  To ensure that 
Corporate Parenting Panel members have enough background knowledge 
to understand and evaluate this information

 To work alongside Our Children and Young People’s Council in order to 
gather feedback from all those involved in and working with/on behalf of 
looked after children and care leavers. This will include ongoing 
engagement with Foster Carers and other user groups

3.4 Frequency of Meetings

Meetings take place every 2-3 months (six per year) and last, on average, three 
hours. Meetings take place at County Hall, Maidstone, and the dates for the 
remainder of 2016 and the start of 2017 are as follows:-

Thursday 26 May 2016 – 10.00 am
Wednesday 20 July 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 7 September 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 9 November 2016 – 1.00 pm
Friday 20 January 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 20 March 2017 – 1.00 pm

3.5 Administration 

The Panel is supported by the County Council’s Democratic Services team, 
who give governance and procedural advice and arrange and record meetings.  
The Panel is supported by  Theresa Grayell, Democratic Services Officer, 
telephone 03000 416172, email theresa.grayell@kent.gov.uk

Page 42

mailto:theresa.grayell@kent.gov.uk


3.6 Membership

Ann Allen
Chairman

Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children's 
Services

Kent County Council

Zita Wiltshire
Vice-Chairman

Elected Councillor for Broadstairs Kent County Council

Robert 
Brookbank

Elected Councillor for Swanley in Sevenoaks Kent County Council

Penny Cole Deputy Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Public Health

Kent County Council

Jane Cribbon Elected Councillor for Gravesham East Kent County Council

Geoff Lymer Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Kent County Council

Bob Neaves Elected Councillor for Folkestone South Kent County Council

Martin Vye Elected Councillor for Canterbury Kent County Council

Jenny Whittle Elected Councillor for Maidstone Rural East and 
Chairman of Children’s Social Care and Health 
Cabinet Committee

Kent County Council

Dr Noreen 
Ahmad–Bhatti

Consultant Community Paediatrician East Kent Hospitals 
University Foundation 
Trust

June Capuano Clinical Manager for Children in Care Services Kent Community Health

Hazel Carpenter Accountable Officer Thanet and South Kent 
Coast Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Teresa 
Carpenter

Foster Carer Kent County Council

Tony Doran Headmaster Virtual School Kent (VSK) Kent County Council

Sue Dunn Head of Skills and Employability (Education and YP 
Services)

Kent County Council

Sophia Dunstan Virtual School Kent (VSK) Apprentice Kent County Council

Ann Furminger Service Delivery Director CXK Ltd

  Stephen Gray Chief Executive Officer Young Lives Foundation

Stuart Griffiths Foster Carer Kent County Council

Andrew Heather Principal Education Psychologist Kent County Council

Naintara Khosla Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting Kent County Council

Page 43



Carolyn Moody Foster Carer Kent County Council

Sue Mullin Commissioning Support Manager NHS Thanet CCG

Philip Segurola Director, Specialist Children’s Services Kent County Council

Bella Taylor Virtual School Kent (VSK) Apprentice Kent County Council

  TBC TBC Kent Police

Vacancy Virtual School Kent (VSK) Apprentice Kent County Council

Nick Wilkinson County Manager, Youth Offending Service Kent County Council

4. Recommendations: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:

a) DISCUSS the proposal to combine the Corporate Parenting Panel 
and the Kent Corporate Parenting Group by April 2016;
b) DISCUSS the proposed new merged Terms of Reference;
c) ENDORSE the updated Terms of Reference for this Panel; and
d) AGREE the membership of the new Corporate Parenting Panel.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Report Author

Shelley Stowers 
Executive Support Officer
Specialist Children’s Services
03000 415512
Shelley.Stowers@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 44

mailto:Shelley.Stowers@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk

	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 28 January 2016
	B1 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report
	B1 Appendix A - VSK Update

	B2 Update on the Fostering Improvement Plan
	B2 Appendix 1 - Fostering Action Plan 11-02-16

	B3 Combining the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Kent Corporate Parenting Group, including a review of Terms of Reference

